Technical Brief

Out With It

HIV and Other Sexual Health Considerations for Young Men Who Have Sex with Men











Empowered lives. Resilient nations. "The extent to which healthcare providers continue to shame, humiliate, or chastise men who have sex with men is the degree to which they will avoid HIV and STI prevention, testing, treatment, and support services."

Technical Brief

OUT WITH IT

HIV and Other Sexual Health Considerations for Young Men Who Have Sex with Men

This document is collaboratively developed by MPact Global Action for Gay Men's Health and Rights (formerly known as MSMGF) and the World Health Organization (WHO), together with the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). It is an updated, abbreviated adaptation of the Technical Brief titled, HIV and Young Men Who Have Sex with Men, published in 2015 by the WHO.

Lead Writer: George Ayala, PsyD

Contributors: Rachel Baggaley, Boyan Konstantinov, Stephen Leonelli, Virginia MacDonald, Nadia Rafif, Tim Sladden, Mohan Sundararaj, Greg Tartaglione, Johnny Tohme, Annette Verster

Layout and design: George Ayala, PsyD

Copyright © 2018 MPact: Global Action for Gay Men's Health and Rights

This work may be reproduced and redistributed, in whole or in part without prior written permission, solely for non-profit, administrative or educational purposes provided all copies contain the following statement: The work is reproduced and distributed with the permission of MPact. No other use is permitted without the express prior written permission of the aforementioned organization.

For permission email contact@mpactglobal.org.

MPact 1111 Broadway, 3rd Floor Oakland, California, USA www.mpactglobal.org

About MPact

MPact: Global Action for Gay Men's Health and Rights (formerly known as MSMGF) was founded in 2006 by a group of activists concerned about the disproportionate HIV disease burden shouldered by gay men and other men who have sex with men worldwide. Working at the intersection between the HIV and LGBT rights sectors, MPact has instigated and supports a global movement to address stigma and discrimination through strengthening public health policies and alleviating funding disparities. MPact conducts advocacy, delivers technical support, and subgrants community-based organizations that work at the country and regional levels. MPact is linked to 120 CBOs across 62 countries, in addition to thousands of activists it reaches through its social media and web-based platforms.



Contents

Young Men Who Have Sex with Men	1
HIV	1
Other Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)	
Risk and Vulnerability	1
Unprotected (condomless or PrEP-less) sex	1
Drug and alcohol consumption	2
Homophobia, stigma and discrimination	2
Sex work	
Homelessness	3
Legal and Policy Constraints	
Criminalization and the law	
Police harassment and violence	5
Service Coverage and Barriers to Access	
Availability and accessibility	
Funding	
Utilization	
Services not sensitive to young men who have sex with men	
Service provider stigma and discrimination	
The Full Package: Services for Young Men Who Have Sex with Men	7
RECOMMENDATIONS	
Making Services Accessible, Acceptable, Affordable and High-quality	9
Necessary Changes to the Legal and Policy Environments	11
Laws and policies	11
Funding	12
REFERENCES	13

Young Men Who Have Sex with Men

In this Technical Brief, we use the term 'men who have sex with men', with the understanding that sexual orientation and same-sex sexual behaviour are distinct, each intricately and specifically influenced by context, culture, community affiliation, identity, gender expression, and emotional connection. This term is meant to be inclusive of gay-identified men and men who adopt other culturally specific and personally meaningful terms of their choice to describe their feelings, romantic attractions, and/or sexual behaviours.

There is a need for better data about the needs of young men who have sex with men and the state of their sexual health. Punitive laws, policies and practices that perpetuate stigma and discrimination targeted to both young people and towards people who are not exclusively heterosexual create challenges for securing good evidence. Systematically collected data is almost non-existent in Africa, the Middle East, Eastern Europe/Central Asia, and the Caribbean.

HIV

Young men who have sex with men are at greater risk for acquiring HIV than their heterosexual and older counterparts.^{1,2,3,4} HIV prevalence for young men who have sex with men has been found to be 4.5% in the Republic of Congo,⁵ 11% in the Russian Federation, 24% in the Bahamas.⁶ New HIV infections (incidence) is on the rise among young men who have sex with men ages 15-29 in many place around the world.⁷

Other Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)

Rates of other STIs are also alarmingly high among young men who have sex with men. For example, men who have sex with men account for nearly three-quarters of all syphilis cases in the United States, with new cases on the rise in this group, ages 15-19.⁸ Rates of syphilis, gonorrhoea, and chlamydia among men who have sex with men in Africa, Latin America, and Asia are much higher than that of the general population.⁹ Since syphilis and gonorrhoea can facilitate transmission of HIV, rising infection rates of these STIs among men who have sex with men are cause for worry.¹⁰

Men who have sex with men are also at increased risk of viral hepatitis with high prevalence of hepatitis B virus reported worldwide.¹¹ Similarly, rates of human papillomavirus (HPV), which can cause anal carcinoma, are high among men who have sex with men although prevalence among young men is not known.^{12,13}

Risk and Vulnerability

Unprotected (condomless or PrEP-less) sex

Transmission of HIV is 18 times more likely to occur through unprotected receptive anal sex (irrespective of the gender of sex partners) than through unprotected vaginal sex. Frequency of unprotected sex increases the risk of exposure to HIV. Young men who have sex with men are more likely than their older counterparts to report unprotected anal intercourse with partners of unknown HIV status.¹⁴ For young men who have sex with men, factual knowledge about how HIV and other STIs are transmitted and strategies for preventing infection/transmission are critically needed. In addition, availability, acceptability, and affordability are key for facilitating unobstructed access to basic sexual health tools like STI and HIV tests, STI and HIV treatment, condoms, condom-compatible lubricants, pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis for young men who have sex with men.

Drug and alcohol consumption

Experimentation with alcohol and drugs is common among young men who have sex with men. Young men who are uncertain about their sexual orientation may be more likely to use alcohol and/or drugs during sexual contact.¹⁵ Problematic use of stimulants, inhalants or hallucinogens are associated with elevated sexual risk for STIs, including HIV.^{16,17} Traditional drug treatment programs lack the capacity to address the specific needs of men who have sex with men leading many to seek more tailored services from community-based organizations led by lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) people for management of their substance use.^{14,16,18,19,20}

Homophobia, stigma and discrimination

Most school-based sex education programmes do not acknowledge or address sexuality and sexual orientation, or the negative impacts of homophobia. Sex education in schools often provides inadequate information about HIV and generally does not address sexual health risks relevant to men who have sex with men.²¹

Although experiences of homophobia can happen anywhere, studies across several countries show that young people are more likely to experience homophobic bullying at school than in their home or community.²² This can take a serious emotional toll and undermine learning, educational achievement, and in turn employment opportunities.^{23,24} Homophobia is associated with high-risk sexual behaviour among young men who have sex with men²⁵ and can lead to compromised mental health in the form of anxiety, depression, loneliness, poor self-esteem, fear of rejection, and self-harm, including suicide.²⁶

Research shows that men who accept their sexual orientation have higher self-esteem, are more likely to disclose their HIV status with casual sex partners, and are less likely to engage in sexual risk-taking.²⁷ For those who identify as gay or bisexual, the decision to disclose their sexual orientation can be stressful, and the process of doing so may bring a mixture of responses ranging from acceptance and support to severe social and legal censure. They are more likely than heterosexual youth to face family disapproval, bullying, harassment, homelessness, social isolation, discrimination and violence, including sexual violence.^{28,29,30,31}



Sex work

In some contexts of social marginalization, a sizable proportion of young men who have sex with men sell sex. Early studies in St Petersburg, Russian Federation, found that 22.7% of men who have sex with men reported selling sex.²³ In Paraguay, 29% of young men who have sex with men (median age 21 years) indicated that they were currently selling sex, and more than half of these reported they began doing so when they were children.³² Among men who have sex with men, selling sex is more frequent among those who are younger, unemployed, have less education, use drugs, engage in high-risk sexual practices and have been raped, compared to men who do not sell sex.^{33,34,35} For some young men who have sex with men, selling sex unerability to HIV and other STIs.^{34,35}

Homelessness

Young men who have sex with men who are isolated, disowned or thrown out of the family home because of their sexual orientation may end up living or working on the streets. Loss of stable housing makes it harder to access health and other services and is associated with increased vulnerability to violence, including sexual violence.^{36,37}

inhts

Legal and Policy Constraints Criminalization and the law

As of January 2017, 72 countries had criminal penalties for same-sex behaviours between consenting adults (or anal sex more generally) or prosecuted such behaviour under other laws.³⁸ In seven of these countries, such acts are punishable by death. The criminalization of homosexuality or homosexual sex leads to increased stigma and discrimination and may push young men who have sex with men further underground, making it difficult for them to obtain prevention tools they may need. Additionally, as of January 2016, at least 60 countries have enacted laws that specifically criminalize HIV non-disclosure, exposure, or transmission, and 56 countries have special

"We are seen as less than human. People have disdain for others who appear to be gay, even if that person is not a man who has sex with other men. Men who have sex with men are dehumanized and made to feel unworthy of protections."

regulations on entry and residence of people living with HIV, including 27 countries that contain laws that permit deportation of people diagnosed with HIV.³⁹ Young men who have sex with men are affected by these laws, further deterring open and honest dialogue about HIV status.

Service providers may also be fearful of arrest or police harassment, narrowing the availability and accessibility of prevention, treatment, and support services. In regions like the Caribbean, it has been documented that countries with such laws have significantly higher rates of HIV among men who have sex with men.^{40,41}

In some countries, laws against sexual violence exclude the sexual assault of men and transgender people. In some jurisdictions where homosexuality or homosexual sex is not illegal, the age of consent for homosexual sex is higher than for heterosexual sex⁴² making younger men who have sex with men more vulnerable to arrest for their sexual behaviour than their heterosexual counterparts. Moreover, in some countries in which homosexuality is criminalized, law enforcement officials, working together with medical personnel, conduct forced anal examinations, to find 'proof' of homosexual behaviour. The Independent Forensic Experts Group has found that forced anal examinations are medically worthless, a severe breach of medical ethics, and tantamount to torture.⁴³ In 2017, the World Medical Association adopted a resolution on prohibiting the use of forced anal examinations to substantiate same-sex sexual activity.⁴⁴

Access to sexual and reproductive health and other services, including harm reduction (needle syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy) for those who use drugs, may be restricted by laws and policies requiring the consent of parents or guardians for legal minors to undergo testing or treatment. This is especially problematic for young people who live away from their parents. General Comment No. 4 of the Committee on the Rights of the Child acknowledges that States should ensure that children have access to appropriate sexual and reproductive health information, regardless of their marital status and whether their parents or guardians consent, and that State parties should ensure "the possibility of medical treatment without parental consent."

Police harassment and violence

In countries where homosexuality is criminalized, men who have sex with men may have restricted access to the justice system if they are the survivors of violence, including sexual abuse. Young men who have sex with men may also be targeted by the police for arrest, extortion, or sexual abuse, sometimes under the guise of enforcing laws against "public nuisance" or "obscenity".⁴² Even in countries where homosexual sex is not illegal, the threat of exposure gives police tremendous power over young men who have sex with men, many of whom have no awareness of their legal rights. Community members doing prevention outreach work and distributing condoms, for example, may also be targeted for harassment and arrest.⁴⁵

Service Coverage and Barriers to Access

Availability and accessibility

Men who have sex with men under the age of 30 years reported significantly lower levels of access to affordable STI testing and treatment, sexual health and HIV educational materials, and risk-reduction programmes in global online surveys conducted in 2012 and 2014.^{46,47,48} Disparities in the availability and accessibility of sexual health programs and HIV services are common between urban and rural areas.



Funding

Recent reports indicate that only 4% of global HIV prevention funding is directed towards men who have sex with men.⁴⁹ International funding still outweighs domestic spending on HIV and sexual health services for men who have sex with men globally. Funding for HIV services for men who have sex with men is especially limited in East and Central Asia, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and North Africa, and across sub-Saharan Africa.⁵⁰ In response, services for men who have sex with men in some of these regions is led primarily by civil-society and community-led organizations rather than the government. However, these services lack legal protections and are often grossly underfunded with limited sustainability.

Utilization

Perceived low-risk for HIV infection is one of the reasons that young men who have sex with men delay seeking prevention or testing services.⁵¹ Low uptake of testing can also be because those who do perceive themselves at high-risk of HIV fear learning that they are HIV positive.⁵² Many young men who have sex with men delay getting tested for HIV until they become symptomatic.⁵³

Young men who have sex with men living with HIV are more likely than their older counterparts to be identified later during their infection and to delay entry into clinical care.^{54,55} Reasons for delaying or forgoing entry into mainstream services may include shame, fear of disapproval and discrimination from health-care providers, lack of health-care insurance, or poor service availability, accessibility and affordability.^{56,57,58}

Services not sensitive to young men who have sex with men

Sexual health counselling provided by clinicians frequently addresses only heterosexuality and heterosexual behaviour, in part because training curricula for healthcare providers seldom include issues around same-sex behaviours and homosexuality. A survey of paediatricians in the USA found that while most (82%) discussed sexual activity during preventive care visits, they rarely or never discussed homosexuality with their patients. Only about 30% prescribed condoms, and just 19% provided condom demonstrations.⁵⁹ A combination of linked factors (e.g., provider discomfort with talking about same-sex behaviours, and the patient's discomfort about revealing these behaviours) may be responsible.⁶⁰

Service provider stigma and discrimination

Insensitivity or discrimination on the part of health-care providers, exacerbated by lack of training and awareness, can deter young men who have sex with men from seeking not only HIV-related services but also testing and treatment for other STIs, especially if they feel they will need to disclose their same-sex behaviour to service-providers.⁶¹ This reluctance may be especially strong for men who have sex with men who do not identify as gay.⁶² Young men who have sex with men may fear that revealing their HIV status to family and friends will also mean disclosing their sexual orientation.⁶³

Service-providers also often fail to recognize that for young men who have sex with men, sexual orientation and sexual practices must be addressed as part of the support offered around sexual and reproductive health and HIV-related needs.

The Full Package: Services for Young Men Who Have Sex with Men

Effective and tailored sexual health services must begin by sensitively and respectfully assessing the needs of young men who have sex with men and reaching them with prevention commodities and interventions through combination approaches. A major aim is to encourage risk reduction counselling and testing services, harm reduction and mental health services as needed, re-engagement for STI and HIV testing, and properly curated combination prevention services. For young men who have sex with men diagnosed with HIV, linkage to care programmes, initiation of anti-retroviral treatment, and adherence support are vital. The full package of WHO-recommended services⁶⁴ is presented in the table below.

Table 1. Summary of WHO Recommendations

Health Sector Interventions

- 1 Condoms with condom-compatible lubricants
- 2 Oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)
- 3 Post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP)
- 4 Needle and syringe programmes
- 5 Opioid substitution therapy
- 6 Brief, evidence-based psycho-social interventions involving assessment, feedback, and advice
- 7 Community distribution of naloxone for emergency management of suspected opioid overdose
- 8 Voluntary HIV testing, including self-testing and partner notification
- 9 Antiretroviral therapy (ART) and ART management for individuals living with HIV
- 10 Tuberculosis prevention, screening, and treatment
- 11 Hepatitis B and C prevention, screening and treatment
- 12 Screening for anal cancer and HPV vaccination
- 13 Mental health screening and services
- 14 Screening, diagnosis, and treatment of sexually transmitted infections
- 15 Reproductive health services, including comprehensive sex education

Strategies for Creating an Enabling Environment

- 1 **Laws, policies and practices should be reviewed and**, where necessary, **revised** by policy-makers and government leaders, with meaningful engagement of stakeholders from key population groups, to allow and support the implementation and scale-up of health-care services for key populations.
- 2 Countries should work towards **implementing and enforcing antidiscrimination and protective laws**, derived from human rights standards, to eliminate stigma, discrimination and violence against people from key populations.
- 3 **Health services should be made available, accessible, and acceptable** based on the principles of medical ethics, avoidance of stigma, non-discrimination, and the right to health.
- 4 Programmes should work toward implementing a package of interventions to **enhance community empowerment** among key populations.
- 5 **Violence** against people from key populations **should be prevented** and addressed in partnership with key population-led organizations. All violence against people from key populations, including LGBT people should be monitored and reported, and **redress mechanisms should be established to provide justice.**



RECOMMENDATIONS: Making Services Accessible, Acceptable, Affordable and High-quality

There are several recommendations described in normative guidance that are consistent with UN human rights principles and endorsed by the WHO, designed to optimize the accessibility, acceptability, affordability, and quality of sexual health services. They include the following:

- 1. Meaningfully involve young men who have sex with men in the planning, design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of services, while acknowledging and building upon their strengths, competencies and capacities, especially their ability to express their views and articulate what services they need.
- 2. Give primary consideration to the best interests of young people in all laws and policies aimed at protecting their rights.⁶⁵
- 3. Integrate targeted services within program settings like shelters, community, health, and dropin centres and by adding components for reaching and delivering services to young men who have sex with men.
- 4. Ensure that there is sufficient capacity amongst professionals, particularly health workers, law enforcement officials, social workers and community workers, to interact or work with young men who have sex with men and apply rights-based approaches and evidence-informed practice.



- 5. Offer community-based, decentralized services, through both mobile outreach and at fixed locations.
- 6. Differentiate approaches to reach both gay-identified and non-gay identified young men who have sex with men.
- 7. Ensure that service locations are easy and safe for young men who have sex with men to reach,⁶⁶ including making services free of charge or low-cost.
- 8. Promote mobile health, staffed by trained personnel, counsellors, and young people, to provide developmentally appropriate health and welfare information to young men who have sex with men, as well as the opportunity for referrals to relevant services.^{67,68,69}
- 9. Provide developmentally appropriate sexual health education for young men who have sex with men from an early age, focusing on skills-based risk reduction, including condom use during anal sex and drug use, delivered using print materials, internet-based and smart phone technologies, social networking apps, and social media.^{70,71}
- 10. Provide information and services through peer-based initiatives, which can also help young people find appropriate role models and employment.
- 11. Ensure appropriate training, support and mentoring to help young men who have sex with men advocate within their communities to support them in accessing services.⁷²
- 12. Ensure that young men who have sex with men, especially boys (10–17 years) have access to appropriate sexual and reproductive health information, including screening for anal cancer and HPV vaccination,⁷³ regardless of their marital status and whether their parents/guardians consent, and that medical treatment without parental/guardian consent is possible and effectively considered when in the best interests of the individual.
- 13. Develop or strengthen protection and welfare services that help parents/guardians to fulfil their responsibilities to effectively protect, care for and support young men who have sex with men, and in the case of young men who have sex with men who are between the ages of 10–17, aim to reintegrate boys with their families if in their individual best interests or provide other appropriate and safe living arrangements and care options in line with the 2010 UN Guidelines for Alternative Care.⁷⁴
- 14. Ensure that services are non-coercive, respectful and non-stigmatizing, that young men who have sex with men are aware of their rights to confidentiality and that any limits of confidentiality are made clear by those with mandatory reporting responsibilities.
- 15. Train health-care providers on the (sexual) health needs of young men who have sex with men, as well as relevant overlapping vulnerabilities such as selling sex or drug and alcohol use.

Necessary Changes to the Legal and Policy Environments

Ensuring a safe, affirming, and enabling environment in which young men who have sex with men can thrive requires law and policy reform and funding that is commensurate with health burden shouldered by young men who have sex with men. The following recommendations are included in normative guidance endorsed by the WHO and aligned with UN human rights principles:

Laws and policies

- 1. Work toward the decriminalization of same-sex behaviour, sex work, and drug use as well as HIV non-disclosure, exposure, and transmission.
- 2. Implement and enforce antidiscrimination and protective laws, based on human-rights standards, to eliminate stigma, discrimination, social exclusion and violence against young men who have sex with men based on actual or assumed HIV status, sexual orientation, gender identity, or same-sex behaviour.^{75,76,77}
- 3. Ban conversion therapy⁷⁸ and close compulsory detention and rehabilitation centres.⁷⁹
- 4. Ban forced anal examinations.⁴⁴
- 5. Prevent and address violence against young men who have sex with men, in partnership with community-based organizations led by youth and men who have sex with men. All acts of violence and harmful treatment including harassment, discriminatory application of public-order laws and extortion by law enforcement officials, should be monitored and reported. Redress mechanisms should be established⁸⁰ and disciplinary measures taken.
- 6. Examine current consent policies and remove age-related barriers and parent/guardian consent requirements that impede access to sexual health services.⁸¹
- 7. Address social norms and stigma around sexuality, gender identity, and sexual orientation through comprehensive sexual health education in schools, supportive information and parenting guidance for families, training of educators and health-care providers, and non-discrimination policies in employment.
- 8. Advocate for removal of censorship or public order laws that interfere with health and sexual health promotion efforts, including HIV-related outreach and prevention education.
- 9. Include relevant programming specific to the needs and rights of young men who have sex with men in national health plans and policy, with linkages to other relevant plans and policies, such as those pertaining to the child protection and education sectors.

Funding

- 10. Increase funding for research, and implementation and scale-up of evidence-informed initiatives addressing young men who have sex with men.
- 11. Ensure that there is dedicated funding in national plans on HIV, sexual and reproductive health, child protection, and sexual exploitation of children for programmes that target young men who have sex with men, and for programmes that address overlapping vulnerabilities.
- 12. Recognize overlapping vulnerabilities among young men who have sex with men who sell sex, identify as transgender, who are migrants, and or who use drugs when funding and delivering HIV and other sexual health services.



References

1. van Griensven F, de Lind van Wijngaarden JW. A review of the epidemiology of HIV infection and prevention responses among MSM in Asia. AIDS. 2010; 24(suppl 3): S30–S40.

2. Koblin B, Chesney M, Coates T, EXPLORE Study Team. Effects of a behavioural intervention to reduce acquisition of HIV infection among men who have sex with men: the EXPLORE randomised controlled study. Lancet. 2004; 364(9428):41-50.

3. Mustanski BS, Newcomb ME, Du Bois SN, Garcia SC, Grov C. HIV in young men who have sex with men: A review of epidemiology, risk, and protector factors, and interventions. J Sex Res. 2011; 48(2-3): 218–253.

4. Gangamma R, Slesnick N, Toviessi P, Serovich J. Comparison of HIV risks among gay, lesbian, bisexual and heterosexual homeless youth. Journal of Youth and Adolescence. 2008; 37(4):456-464. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2443720/. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

5. Conseil National de Lutte Contre le SIDA (CNLS). Enquête comportementale couplée à la Sérologie VIH chez les professionnelles du sexe, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec les hommes et les détenus en République du Congo. Rapport Final. Brazzaville. June 2012.

6. UNAIDS. Securing the Future Today. Synthesis of Strategic Information on HIV and Young People. By Global Interagency Task Team on HIV and young people. UNAIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. 2011. Available at: <u>http://files.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/</u> unaidspublication/2011/20110727 JC2112 Synthesis report en.pdf. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

7. Ocfemia MC, Dunville R, Zhang T, Barrios LC, Oster AM. HIV Diagnoses among persons aged 13–29 years — United States, 2010–2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018;67:212–215. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6707a2</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).



8. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Sexually Transmitted Disease Surveillance 2011. Division of STD Prevention. Atlanta, Georgia. December 2012. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/std/stats11/Surv2011.pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

9. Beyrer C. Hidden yet happening: the epidemics of sexually transmitted infections and HIV among men who have sex with men in developing countries. Sex Transm Infect. 2008; 84:410-2.

10. Kim AA, Kent CK, Klausner JD. Risk factors for rectal gonococcal infection amidst resurgence in HIV transmission. Sex Transm Dis. 2003; 30:813-7.

11. MacKellar DA, Valleroy LA, Secura GM, et al. Two decades after vaccine license: hepatitis B immunization and infection among young MSM. Am J Public Health. 2001; 91:965-71.

12. Dona MG, Palamara G, Di Carlo A, et al. Prevalence, genotype diversity and determinants of anal HPV infection in HIV-uninfected men having sex with men. J Clin Virol. 2012; 54:185–189.

13. Edelstein ZR, Schwartz SM, Hawes S, Hughes JP, Feng Q, Stern M, et al. Rates and determinants of oral human papillomavirus infection in young men. Sex Transm Dis. 2012; 39:860–867.

14. Salomon EA, Mimiaga MJ, Husnik MJ, Welles SL, Manseau MW, Montenegro AB, Safren SA, Koblin BA, Chesney MA, Mayer KH. Depressive symptoms, utilization of mental health care, substance use and sexual risk among young men who have sex with men in EXPLORE: Implications for age-specific interventions. AIDS Behav. 2009; 13(4):811-21.

15. Agronick G, O'Donnell L, Stueve A, San Doval A, Duran R, Vargo S. Sexual behaviours and risks among bisexually- and gay-identified young Latino men. AIDS Behav. 2004; 8(2):185–97.

16. Peck JA, Reback CJ, Yang X, Rotheram-Fuller E, Shoptaw S. Sustained reductions in drug use and depression symptoms from treatment for drug abuse in methamphetamine-dependent gay and bisexual men. Journal of Urban Health. 2005; 82 (Suppl. 1).

17. Edelstein ZR, Schwartz SM, Hawes S, Hughes JP, Feng Q, Stern M, et al. Rates and determinants of oral human papillomavirus infection in young men. Sex Transm Dis. 2012; 39:860–867.

18. Flores JM, Santos GM, Makofane K, Arreola S, Ayala G. Availability and Use of Substance Abuse Treatment Programs Among Substance-Using Men Who Have Sex With Men Worldwide. Subst Use Misuse. 2017;*52*(5):666-673. DOI: 10.1080/10826084.2016.1253744.

19. Lea T, Kolstee J, Lambert S, Ness R, Hannan S, Holt M. Methamphetamine treatment outcomes among gay men attending a LGBTI-specific treatment service in Sydney, Australia. PLoS One. 2017. 12 (2):e0172560.

20. Girault P. MSM and drug use in the Asia Pacific Region. Presentation, 9th International Conference on AIDS in Asia and the Pacific, 9-13 August 2009, Bali, Indonesia.

21. UNESCO. Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education. Booklet 8. Education Sector Responses to Homophobic Bullying. 2012. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002164/216493e.pdf</u>. (Accessed 2 July 2018).

22. Mahidol University, Plan International, UNESCO. Bullying Targeting Secondary School Students Who Are or Are Perceived To Be Transgender Or Same-Sex Attracted. Types, Prevalence, Impact, Motivation and Preventive Measures In 5 Provinces of Thailand. Bangkok: UNESCO. 2014. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002275/227518e.pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

23. World Bank. The Global HIV Epidemics among Men Who Have Sex with Men. Washington, DC: World Bank. 2011.

24. O'Loan S, McMillan F, Motherwell S, Bell, A, Arshad R. Promoting Equal Opportunities in Education: Project Two, Guidance in Dealing with Homophobic Incidents, Edinburgh: Scottish Executive Education Department. 2006.

25. Preston DB, D'Augelli AR, Kassab CD, Cain RE, Schulze FW, Starks MT. The influence of stigma on

26. Youth Voices Count. The Hidden Dimension: Experience of Self-Stigma Among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men And Young Transgender Women and The Linkages With HIV In Asia And The Pacific. Youth Voices Count, Bangkok, Thailand. 2014.

27. Ramirez-Valles J. The protective effects of community involvement for HIV risk behaviour: a conceptual framework. Health Education Research. 2002; 17(4): 389-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/her/17.4.389</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

28. Centre for Disease Control, HIV and Young Men Who Have Sex with Men. National Center for HIV/ AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention, Division of Adolescent and School Health. June 2012.

29. Resnick MD, Bearman PS, Blum RW, Bowman KE, Harris KM, Jones J, et al. Protecting adolescents from harm: Findings from the national longitudinal study on adolescent health. JAMA. 1997; 278:832-32.

30. Díaz RM, Ayala G, Bein E, Henne J, Marin B. The impact of homophobia, poverty, and racism on the mental health of gay and bisexual Latino men: findings from 3 US cities. American Journal of Public Health. 2001; 91(6):927-932.

31. Rosario M, Schrimshaw EW, and Hunter J. A model of sexual risk behaviours among young gay and bisexual men: longitudinal associations of mental health, substance abuse, sexual abuse, and the coming-out process. AIDS Education and Prevention. 2006; 18(5):444-460.

32. Chinaglia M, Tun W, Mello M, Insfran M, Diaz J. Assessment of Risk Factors for HIV Infection in Female Sex Workers and Men Who Have Sex with Men At The Triple-Border Area of Ciudad del Este, Paraguay. Horizons Final Report. Washington, DC: Population Council. 2008.

33. de Mello M, de Araujo Pinho A, Chinaglia M, Tun W, Barbosa A, Ilario MCFJ, et al. Assessment of Risk Factors for HIV Infection Among Men Who Have Sex with Men in The Metropolitan Area of Campinas City, Brazil, Using Respondent-Driven Sampling. Horizons Final Report. Washington DC; Population Council. 2008.

34. Tareerat C, Netwong T, Visarutratana S, Varangrat A, Li A, Phanuphak P, Jommaroeng R, Akarasewi P, van Griensven F. Inconsistent Condom Use among Young Men who have Sex with Men, Male Sex Workers, and Transgenders in Thailand, AIDS Education and Prevention. 2010; 22(2): 100-109.

35. Sexual Risk Behaviours Among Male Sex Workers in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam - Implications For HIV Prevention, Nguyen Van Hiep, Umea University, 2011.

36. Aidala A, Cross JE, Stall R, Harre D, Sumartojo E. Housing status and HIV risk behaviours: implications for prevention and policy. AIDS Behav. 2005;9(3):251-65.

37. Leaver CA, Bargh G, Dunn JR, Hwang SW. The effects of housing status on health-related outcomes in people living with HIV: A systematic review of the literature. AIDS Behav. 2007;11(2 Suppl):85-100.

38. Carroll A, Mendos LR. State-sponsored Homophobia. A World Survey of Sexual Orientation Laws: Criminalization, Protection, and Recognition. International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, and Intersex Association. Geneva, Switzerland. 2017. Available at: <u>https://ilga.org/downloads/2017/</u> <u>ILGA State Sponsored Homophobia 2017 WEB.pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

39. Lemmen K, Wiessner P. Schnellfinder, Einreise—und Aufenthaltsbestimmungen für Menschen mit HIV und AIDS. Deutsche AIDS Hilfe e.V. 11. Auflage, Berlin, 2016.

40. Pan American Health Organization. Improving Access of Key Populations to Comprehensive HIV Health Services: Towards a Caribbean Consensus. Washington, D.C.: PAHO, 2011.

41. Global Commission on HIV and the Law: Risks, Rights and Health. New York: United Nations Development Programme. 2012; page 46.

42. UNESCO (2013). Young People and The Law in Asia and the Pacific: A Review of Laws and Policies Affecting Young People's Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health And HIV Services. Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002247/224782e.pdf. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

43. Independent Forensic Expert Group. Statement on anal examinations in cases of alleged homosexuality. 2016. Available at: <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/PHR_other/statement-on-anal-examinations-in-cases-of-alleged-homosexuality.pdf</u>. (Access 18 June 2018).

44. World Medical Association. Resolution on prohibition of forced anal examinations to substantiate samesex sexual activity. Adopted 2017. Available at <u>https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-resolution-on-prohibition-of-forced-anal-examinations-to-substantiate-same-sex-sexual-activity/</u>. (Accessed 18 June 2018).

45. Conner B, Mago A, Middleton-Lee S. Sexual and Reproductive Health Needs and Access to Health Services for Adolescents Under 18 Engaged in Selling Sex in Asia Pacific. HIV Young Leaders Fund. Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2014.

46. Beck J, Santos G-M, and Ayala G. Young Men who have Sex with Men: Health, Access, & HIV. Findings from the 2012 Global Men's Health and Rights (GMHR) Study - A Policy Brief. The Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF). Oakland, California. April 2013.

47. Santos GM, Beck J, Wilson PA, Hebert P, Makofane K, Pyun T, Do T, Arreola S, Ayala G. Homophobia as a barrier to HIV prevention service access for young men who have sex with men. JAIDS. 2013; 63(5): e167-e170.

48. Ayala G, Makofane K, Do TD, Santos GM, Beck J, Scheim AI, Hebert P, Arreola S. Rights in action: Access to HIV services among men who have sex with men. Policy Brief published by LINKAGES at FHI360 and supported by USAID/PEPFAR. December 2015.

49. Ayala G, Chang J, Matheson R, Sprague L, Thomas RM. Reconsidering Primary Prevention of HIV: New Steps Forward in The Global Response. The Global Forum on MSM & HIV, (MSMGF), Oakland, California, USA. 2017. Available at http://msmgf.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Reconsidering-Primary-Prevention.pdf.

50. UNAIDS Global Report. UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2013. Available at: <u>http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2013/gr2013/</u> UNAIDS Global Report 2013 en.pdf. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

51. MacKellar DA, Valleroy LA, Secura GM, Bechel S, Bingham T, Celentano DD, et al. Unrecognized HIV infection, risk behaviours, and perceptions of risk among young men who have sex with men. opportunities for advancing HIV prevention in the third decade of HIV/AIDS. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005; 38 (5):603-614.

52. Moyer MB, Sylveste AJ, Lombardi EL, Taylor CA. High-risk behaviours among youth and their reasons for not getting tested for HIV. Journal of HIV/AIDS Prevention in Children & Youth. 2007; 8(1): 59-73.

53. Siegel K, Lekas H-M, Van Devanter N. Gender, sexual orientation and adolescent HIV testing: A qualitative analysis. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2010; 21(4): 314–326.

54. Rotheram-Borus MJ. HIV prevention challenges: Realistic strategies and early detection programmes. Am J Public Health. 1997; 87:544–546.

55. Valdiserri RO, Holtgrave DR, West GR. Promoting early HIV diagnosis and entry into care. AIDS. 1999; 13:2317–2330.

56. Fay H, Baral SD, Trapence G, Motimedi F, Umar E, Ipinge S, et al. Stigma, healthcare access, and HIV knowledge among men who have sex with men in Malawi, Namibia, and Botswana. AIDS Behav. 2011; 15:1088–1097.

57. Turner BJ, Cunningham WE, Duan N, Andersen RM, Shapiro MF, Bozzette SA, et al. Delayed medical care after diagnosis in a US national probability sample of persons infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Arch Intern Med. 2000; 160(17):2614–2622.

58. Ayala G, Santos GM. Will the global HIV response fail gay, bisexual men, and other men who have sex with men? Journal of the International AIDS Society. 2016; 19:21098. DOI: 10.7448/IAS.19.1.21098.

59. Henry-Reid LM, O'Connor KG, Klein JD, Cooper E, Flynn P, Futterman DC. Current paediatrician practices in identifying high-risk behaviours of adolescents. Paediatrics. 2010; 125(4):e741-7.

60. Siconolfi DE, Kapadia F, Halkitis PN, Moeller RW, Storholm ED, Barton SC, et al. Sexual health screening among racially/ethnically diverse young gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. J Adolesc Health. 2013; 52(5):620-6.

61. Wilson P, Santos G, Herbert P and Ayala G. Emerging Strategies: A Global Survey of Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) and their Health Care Providers. Oakland, CA: Global Forum on MSM and HIV. 2011.

62. Bernstein KT, Liu, KL, Begier EM, Koblin B, Karpati A, Murrill C. Same-sex attraction disclosure to health care providers among New York City men who have sex with men. Arch Intern Med. 2008; 168:1458–64.

63. Zea M, Reisen CA, Poppen PJ, Bianchi FT, Echeverry JJ. Predictors of disclosure of human immunovirus-positive serostatus among Latino gay men. Cultural Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol. 2007; 13 (4):304–312.

64. WHO. Consolidated Guidelines on HIV Prevention, Diagnosis, Treatment, and Care for Key Populations. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland. 2014, reprinted in 2016 with changes.

65. United Nations. United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Article 1). U.N. Doc. A/ Res/44/25, 1989. Available at: <u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

66. WHO. Making Health Services Adolescent Friendly. Developing National Quality Standards for Adolescent Friendly Health Services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u>

handle/10665/75217/9789241503594_eng.pdf;jsessionid=74570A0D6D46072F5E22A9BF2B3375DF? sequence=1. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

67. Gold J, Lim MS, Hocking JS, Keogh LA, Spelman T, Hellard ME. Determining the Impact of Text Messaging for Sexual Health Promotion to Young People. Sexually Transmitted Diseases; 2011; 38(4): 247-252. DOI:10.1097/OLQ.0b013e3181f68d7b.

68. Catalani C, Philbrick W, Fraser H, Mechael P, Israelski DM. mHealth for HIV treatment & prevention: a systematic review of the literature. Open AIDS J. 2013; 13(7):17-41. DOI: 10.2174/1874613620130812003.

69. Lester RT, Ritvo P, Mills EJ, Kariri A, Karanja S, Chung MH, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. The Lancet. 2010; 376(9755): 1838-1845; DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61997-6.

70. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. 2009. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/</u> <u>images/0018/001832/183281e.pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018). 71. Baer J, Butler J, Ayala G (Eds). Implementing Comprehensive HIV and STI Programmes with Men Who Have Sex with Men: Practical Guidance for Collaborative Interventions. United Nations Population Fund: New York. 2015.

72. United Nations Population Fund and Youth Peer Education Network (Y-PEER). Youth Peer Education Toolkit: Standards for Peer Education Programmes. New York (NY): United Nations Population Fund. 2005. <u>https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/jahia-publications/documents/publications/2006/ypeer_standardsbook.pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

73. CDC. For your health: Recommendations for a healthier you. Gay and Bisexual Men's Health. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention. Last updated January 25, 2017. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/msmhealth/for-your-health.htm</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

74. United Nations Guidelines for Alternative Care for Children. U.N. Doc. A/Res/64/142, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.unicef.org/protection/alternative_care_Guidelines-English(2).pdf</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

75. WHO. HIV and adolescents: Guidance for HIV Testing and Counselling and Care For Adolescents Living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2013. Available at: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/</u> <u>bitstream/handle/10665/94334/9789241506168_eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>. (Accessed 12 June 2018).

76. Mustanski B, Garofalo R, Emerson E. Mental health disorders, psychological distress, and suicidality in a diverse sample of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. American Journal of Public Health. 2010; 100(12): 2426-2432. DOI: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2009.178319</u>.

77. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. International Guidelines on HIV And Human Rights, 2006 Consolidated Version. Guideline 4 (d). Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. 2006. <u>http://data.unaids.org/publications/irc-pub07/jc1252-internguidelines_en.pdf</u>. (Accessed 16 June 2014).

78. Pan American Health Organization: Regional Office of the World Health Organization. "Cures" for an illness that does not exist: Purported therapies aimed at changing sexual orientation lack medical justification and are ethically unacceptable. 2012. Available at <u>http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?</u> option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid=17703.

79. United Nations. Joint UN Statement on Compulsory Drug Detention and Rehabilitation Centres, 2012. <u>http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2012/march/20120308adetentioncenters/</u>. (Available at 12 June 2018).

80. Beck J, Peretz JJ, Ayala G. Services Under Siege: The Impact of Anti-LGBT Violence on HIV Programmes. The Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF). Oakland, California, USA. December 2015.

81. Interagency Youth Working Group, et al. Young People Most at Risk of HIV: A Meeting Report and Discussion Paper from the Interagency Youth Working Group, USAID, UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on HIV and Young People, and FHI. Research Triangle Park, NC: FHI. 2010. Available at: <u>http://data.unaids.org/pub/basedocument/2010/2010_ypmar_en.pdf</u>. (Accessed 2 July 2018).





www.mpactglobal.org 1111 Broadway, Floor 3 Oakland, California 94607 USA